ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. 

The trial Court erred in failing to grant Defendant's Motion to Dismiss the 

Indictment and Defendant's Motion to Recuse the Nicholas County Prosecuting Attorney 

or to require an evidentiary hearing on the issues raised by the Defendant's Motions when 

Defendant's Motions as well as the Grand Jury testimony and evidence available to the 

State, prior to trial, demonstrated both prosecutorial misconduct and willful, intentional 

fraud had substantially influenced the Grand Jury's decision to indict. 

(Counsel advises the Court that this Assignment ofError combines Assignments 

ofError numbers one (1) and two (2) ofPetitioner's Notice of Appeal.) 

ll. 

The trial Court erred when it permitted, by the Court's Order ofAugust 15,2015, 

the State to introduce evidence of alleged domestic abuse, alleged marital discord and 

alleged threats between the Defendant and the Defendant's wife (the victim) into the trial 

of this case. 

(Counsel advises the Court that this Assignment ofError combines Assignments 

ofError numbers three (3) and four (4) of Petitioner's Notice of Appeal.) 

m 

The trial Court erred when it sua sponte determined that "this is an all or nothing 

case" and that the Court did not instruct the jury nor include on the verdict form given the 

1 




jury, the lesser included offenses of Second Degree Murder, Voluntary Manslaughter and 

Involuntary Manslaughter. 

IV. 

The Trial Court erred by allowing the case to proceed to the jury and by not 

granting the Defendant's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal when the evidence presented 

at trial by the State was wholly insufficient and inconsistent to convince a reasonable jury 

of the Defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt when viewed in the light most 

favorable to the State as to all of the essential elements of the crime charged. 

(Counsel advises the Court that this Assignment ofError combines Assignments 

ofError numbers six (6), seven (7) and eight (8) ofPetitioner's Notice of Appeal.) 

v. 

The cumulative effect of all error assigned herein denied this Defendant a fair 

trial. 

VI. 

All other error apparent upon the face of the record herein. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

At or around noon on Wednesday. October 31.2007. the Defendant. Paul Darren 

Spinks was at home with his wife, Elizabeth Ann Spinks at their residence located at 156 

Anvil Drive, Birch River, Nicholas County, West Virginia. According to the Defendant, 

he and his wife were seated on their front porch, smoking, when he heard what he 

described as a firecracker sound, at which point, his wife, Elizabeth Ann Spinks, 

sustained a fatal gunshot wound to her upper chest area. The Defendant stated that he 

went in the house to retrieve a telephone and while contacting 911, he likewise sustained 

a gunshot wound to his left thigh. (page 184, Day 2) 

In response to the 911 call placed by the Defendant, numerous emergency 

personnel and law enforcement officers arrived on the scene at the Spinks' residence 

within a very short period of time. (911 call received 1 :06 p.m.). (page 136, Day 2) 

Immediately upon arrival on scene by law enforcement the scene was secured and the 

Defendant was transported by helicopter as a result of the gunshot wound that he 

sustained. From and after the point in time when the scene was secured, the Spinks' 

residence remained under the control oflaw enforcement, who very quickly obtained a 

search warrant therefor. Numerous police officers were involved in the investigation of 

the scene and collection of evidence and at approximately 4:15 p.m., West Virginia State 

Police Troop 6 Crime Scene Response Team arrived at the Spinks' residence and 

conducted a detailed crime scene investigation and collection ofevidence for the next 

four (4) hours. The Crime Scene Response Team photographed the entire scene, 

conducted an extensive search of the residence, the curtilage, and all contents thereof and 

collected numerous items of evidence. The Crime Scene Response Team departed the 
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scene at approximately 8: 15 p.m. on that date. Thereafter, an extensive criminal 

investigation was undertaken by the West Virginia State Police including the taking of 

statements ofseveral persons including two (2) statements of the Defendant. Also, a 

number of forensic examinations were undertaken by the State Police and the State 

Crime Lab. No recently fired weapons were located in or about the residence, no 

gunshot residue was present on either the body ofElizabeth Ann Spinks nor on the 

Defendant, and no person was arrested or charged with any crime related to the death of 

Elizabeth Ann Spinks or the shooting of the Defendant as a result of this investigation. 

After a significant period of time passed without an arrest, this matter became 

what is referred to as a "cold case." Thereafter the investigation into these shootings 

remained in that status until on or about the 161h day ofJune, 2014 when the then 

Prosecuting Attorney ofNicholas County, James R Milam, IT authored a letter directed 

to the West Virginia State Police stating that, 

" ... the case went cold due to lack ofleads and evidence." 
and, "due to evidence which has come to light in another 
murder in the Birch River area, I believe with additional 
investigation, we might be able to uncover the rest of the 
story and solve this case." (Day 4, Page 283). 

As a result of this letter, Corporal Daniel Paul White of the West Virginia State 

Police was assigned to this case and according to Corporal White, he reviewed the police 

report and discussed the matter with the officer who was originally in charge of the 

investigation; he conducted some measurements; took some statements; and, resubmitted 

a number of items of physical evidence to the State Crime Lab. (Day 4, Page 202). 

Corporal White also took another statement from the Defendant and examined the 911 

recording and certain telephone records of the Defendant. 
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Thereafter, Corporal White was called before the Nicholas County Grand Jury on the 

9th day of September, 2014. Interestingly, based upon the limited investigation conducted 

by Corporal White once an Indictment had been returned it was only at that point that 

Corporal White requested that a number ofthe items of physical evidence collected from 

the Spinks' residence on October 31, 2007 be resubmitted to the State Crime Lab for 

further and additional testing. Nevertheless, in his appearance before the Grand Jury on 

September 9,2014, Corporal White testified with certainty as to a number of issues about 

which he only had limited experience, limited expertise (if any) and no evidence. 

However, based upon the testimony of Corporal White the Grand Jury returned a True 

Bill Indictment for a felony against the Defendant. At no point in this case has any 

evidence discovered from any other crimes in Nicholas County been identified by the 

State nor particularly by Corporal White. Corporal White simply performed a few minor 

tasks that he thought were relevant and appeared before the Grand Jury. As a matter of 

fact, Corporal White's most significant concern related to his investigation dealt with the 

statements and reenactments by the Defendant. However, at the hearing held on June 12, 

2015, Sgt. Clendenin, the original investigating officer testified that there was no 

evidence inconsistent with the reenactment performed by the Defendant relating to the 

events of the day ofthe shooting. (See transcript 6/12/15 at Page 44). 

Despite the significant investigation conducted following the events of October 31, 

2007 and despite Corporal White's limited investigation conducted almost seven (7) years 

later, Corporal White was the only witness called to testify before the Grand Jury on 

September 9,2014. Corporal White's testimony before the Grand Jury is appropriately 

characterized as speculative, biased, outcome directed and predominately based on 
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incorrect and outright false statements made by Corporal White to the Grand Jury. 

Corporal White was likewise "assisted" in presenting his improper and false testimony to 

the Grand Jury by Nicholas County Prosecuting Attorney James R. Milam, II. Corporal 

White was allowed to render numerous opinions before the Grand Jury for which he was 

not qualified to render. For example, he testified as to blood spatter evidence (p. 11), 

bullet trajectory (p. 12), physiology (p. 14), forensics (p. 15), bullet trajectory and 

characteristics (p. 16), physics (p. 18), psychology (p. 26), and he was permitted to render 

legal conclusions (p. 29). Further, Corporal White was permitted to make outright 

misrepresentations before the Grand Jury wherein he testified that there was a bullet hole 

in the floor of the bathroom (p. 15) and the existence of"a substance called LeadFree" (p. 

35). Finally, although Corporal White's testimony with regard to alleged domestic 

violence and alleged marital discord may arguable have been areas of inquiry relative to 

the alleged motive ofthe Defendant, Corporal White improperly, and without any 

evidentiary basis whatsoever accused the Defendant of arson in the burning of his home 

where Corporal White testified that: "you can bum the house, but he didn't get rid ofthe 

porch. My victim was shot on the porch." (p. 16). 

Nevertheless, based upon this testimony, the Grand Jury returned a True Bill 

Indictment against the Defendant, Paul Darren Spinks, for Murder in the death of his wife 

Elizabeth Ann Spinks. Thereafter, the Defendant was committed to bond and this case 

proceeded. The Defendant filed with the Court preliminary pretrial motions, specifically, 

a Motion to Recuse, a Motion for Dismissal due to unnecessary pre-indictment delay and 

a Motion to Dismiss Indictment. These Motions were the subject of a non-evidentiary 

hearing held before the Court on the 16th day of January, 2015 and were denied by the 
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Trial Court's Order ofMarch 20,2015. Also, at the hearing held on January 16,2015, the 

Trial Court conducted an evidentiary admissibility hearing as to the admissibility of the 

Defendant's two (2) statements and as to the validity of the State's search warrant 

obtained for the Spinks' residence. These issues were likewise addressed in the Court's 

Order ofMarch 20, 2015. 

The Court also held a non-evidentiary hearing on March 6, 2015 upon several pretrial 

motions ofthe Defendant dealing with introduction ofcertain evidence, specifically 

evidence regarding a polygraph examination taken by the Defendant, the Domestic 

Violence Petition filed by the victim against the Defendant, alleged inconsistencies in the 

Defendant's three (3) statements and introduction ofa divorce packet found in the 

victim's automobile. The Court entered an Order on March 27, 2015 granting 

Defendant's Motion with regard to polygraph evidence, granting the Defendant's Motion 

as to the Domestic Violence Petition unless admitted under Rule 404(b), held in abeyance 

Defendant's Motions regarding alleged inconsistencies in the Defendant's statements and 

evidence of the divorce packet until trial. 

The State also filed a certain Motion to admit intrinsic evidence of domestic abuse 

which requested that the Court rule as admissible the documents relating to a Domestic 

Violence Protective Order issued on April 22, 2007 to Elizabeth Ann Spinks and against 

the Defendant; a divorce packet partially completed by Elizabeth Ann Spinks as 

Petitioner against the Defendant, found after the death ofElizabeth Ann Spinks in her 

vehicle; certain testimony ofKatherine Gregory, the sister ofElizabeth Ann Spinks, 

regarding the marital relationship between Elizabeth Ann Spinks and the Defendant; the 

testimony ofMichelle Cowger, the daughter ofElizabeth Ann Spinks, with regard to the 
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marital relationship and alleged domestic violence between the Defendant and Elizabeth 

Ann Spinks; and, to permit the expert testimony of Sgt. Mike Lynch ofthe West Virginia 

State Police concerning domestic abuse. Based upon such Motion the Court convened an 

evidentiary hearing thereon on June 12,2015 and subsequently entered an extensive 

Order ruling upon all issues raised at the June 12,2015 hearing, dated August 7,2015. In 

essence, the Court's Order of August 7,2015 allowed the State to introduce the testimony 

ofvarious witnesses surrounding the incidents of April 22, 2007 allegedly giving rise to 

the filing ofa Petition for Domestic Violence by Elizabeth Ann Spinks, but not allowing 

the introduction of any documents relating thereto; the Court allowed the introduction of 

the divorce packet and testimony regarding it; allowed the testimony ofKatherine 

Gregory and Michelle Cowger as to alleged incidents of domestic violence between 

Elizabeth Ann Spinks and the Defendant; testimony regarding the relationship between 

the Defendant and Elizabeth Ann Spinks during the last six (6) months prior to Elizabeth 

Ann Spinks' death; and, testimony as to alleged threats made by the Defendant against 

Elizabeth Ann Spinks. The Defendant contends that the Court incorrectly found legal 

bases for the introduction ofthe above described evidence and improperly permitted the 

introduction of this evidence to the prejudice of the Defendant at trial. 

On August 10,2015, the Court conducted a final pretrial hearing at which time the 

Court resolved all final pending matters then outstanding and the Court announced that 

the case was ready to proceed to trial on the 11th day of August, 2015 (see Court's Order 

ofAugust 11, 2015). Thereafter, on August 11, 2015 the Court and parties commenced 

Jury selection which consumed the entire day as well as much ofAugust 12, 2015. After 

empaneling of a Jury, the State presented its evidence followed by the Defendant and the 
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matter was submitted to the Jury on the 18th day of August, 2015. The Jury deliberated 

and returned a verdict in open Court on August 19,2015 as follows: 

"We the Jury in the above action, find the Defendant 
guilty ofFirst Degree Murder ofElizabeth Spinks as 
charged within the Indictment. 

And, having found the Defendant guilty ofFirst Degree 
Murder, we make the following recommended: 

The Defendant is not granted mercy. 
Signed by the Foreperson, Jason Campbell, Dated 

8/19/15." 

The Jury was polled by the Court and all Jurors responded in the affirmative as to their 

assent and affirmative vote for such verdict. 

Accordingly, on September 3,2015 the Circuit Court ofNichol as County, West 

Virginia sentenced the Defendant to the West Virginia State Penitentiary for a term of 

life without the possibility of parole. It is of and from this Order that the Defendant 

prosecutes this Appeal. 

S~YOFARGUMENT 

In its essence the Petitioner's Appeal rests on four (4) separate and distinct arguments 

alleging error in the Trial Court as follows: 

1) 	 The Petitioner argues that seven (7) years after the murder ofElizabeth 

Ann Spinks, the State through its agents concocted a theory that the 

Defendant, Paul Darren Spinks, committed the murder and in its effort to 

indict and convict the Defendant, Paul Darren Spinks, of the murder of 

Elizabeth Ann Spinks obtained the Indictment against Paul Darren Spinks 

by subterfuge and misrepresentations made before the Grand Jury and 
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continued those subterfuges and misrepresentations throughout the trial of 

this case aided by acts ofprosecutorial misconduct all ofwhich 

constituted a willful and intentional fraud. State vs. Booker, 

Memorandum Decision No. 14-1298 (W. Va., 2015); State vs. Carter, 232 

W. Va. 97, 750 S. E. 2nd 650 (2013); and, State ex rei. Pinson vs. 


Maynard, 383 S. E. 2nd 2d844, 181 W. Va. 662 (1989). 


2) 	The Petitioner argues that the Court committed prejudicial error when the 

Court permitted the State to introduce tenuous alleged domestic violence 

evidence essentially arising out of a single incident occurring 

approximately six (6) months prior to the death ofElizabeth Ann Spinks 

and by allowing the State to introduce a divorce packet containing 

documents filled out by the decedent to establish alleged marital discord 

without any supporting testimony or evidence regarding the circumstances 

surrounding the divorce packet or even whether or not the Defendant had 

any knowledge whatsoever ofthe existence of the divorce packet. State 

vs. McKinley, 234 W. Va. 143, 764 S. E. 2nd 303 (2014). 

3) 	The Petitioner argues that the Court should have instructed the Jury and 

submitted to the Jury a verdict form allowing the Jury to return a possible 

verdict to the lesser included offenses of First Degree Murder. State vs 

Allen. 131 W. Va. 667,49 S. E. 2nd 847 (1948) 

4) 	 The Petitioner argues that the evidence presented at trial was insufficient 

to support the Defendant's conviction as it was not sufficient to convince a 

reasonable person of the Defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt 
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when viewed in a light most favorable to the Prosecution. State vs. 

Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657,461 S. E. 2nd 163 (W. Va., 1995) and Statevs. 

Grimes, 226 W. Va. 411, 701 S. E. 2nd 449 (W. Va., 2009). 

The Petitioner also contends that in the light of all of the forgoing error, the cumulative 

effect ofwhich constituted a denial of his right to a fair trial. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The Petitioner requests oral argument before the Court and represents that the issues 

raised meet the requirements ofRule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules ofAppellate 

Procedure. 

The Petitioner asserts that this case should be set for a Rule 19 argument in as much 

as such case is suitable for a Rule 19 argument given that this case is one involving 

Assignments ofError in the application of settled law and is a case claiming insufficient 

evidence. Additionally, the Petitioner requests that the Court decide this case on the 

merits by issuing a memorandum decision or opinion. 
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ARGUMENT 

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT THE DEFENDANT'S 
MOTION TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT AND DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO 
RECUSE THE NICHOLAS COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY OR TO 
REQUIRE AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THE ISSUES RAISED BY THE 
DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS WHEN DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS AS WELL AS 
THE GRAND JURY TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE AVAllABLE TO THE 
STATE, PRIOR TO TRIAL DEMONSTRATED BOTH PROSECUTORIAL 
MISCONDUCT AND WILLFUL, INTENTIONAL FRAUD HAD 
SUBSTANTIALLY INFLUENCED THE GRAND JURY'S DECISION TO 
INDICT. 

The Petitioner herein contends that this entire prosecution by the State ofWest 

Virginia by and through her Prosecuting Attorney ofNicholas County was tainted and 

essentially outcome oriented. Elizabeth Spinks died from a single gunshot wound which 

she sustained in the chest area on October 31, 2007 (transcript 9/9/14, p. 6). The 

shooting occurred sometime around 12:30 p.m. on that date. Within a short period of 

time, at least by 1:30 p.m., a member ofWest Virginia State Police and Nicholas County 

SherifPs Department employees were on scene in response to a 911 call. (transcript 

8/13/15, po 14) Your Petitioner, Darren Paul Spinks, likewise sustained a gunshot wound 

to his upper left thigh on the same date. Once the scene had been secured by law 

enforcement, your Petitioner was triaged and evacuated by helicopter to Charleston Area 

Medical Center for his injuries. Almost immediately Trooper Stevenson of the West 

Virginia State Police obtained a search warrant for a search of the Spinks' residence and 

surrounding area where the shootings had occurred. (transcript 8/12/15, p. 114) 

Thereafter, three (3) or four (4) State Troopers and three (3) or four (4) Deputies were 

present (8/13/15, p. 68), as well as Police Crime Scene Team 6 arrived on the scene 
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(8/13/1S, p. 66) and law enforcement had control ofand searched the Spinks' residence 

for "Probably eight hours." (8/13/1S, p. 27). During this time, an extensive search was 

conducted of the Spinks' residence which involved a search in the crawl space under the 

house (8/13/1S, p. 159); pieces of floor being cut out (8/13115, p. 144); a number of 

weapons being seized (8118I1S, p. 97 - 104); no handguns were located (8/18/15, p. 27); 

metal detectors were utilized (8114I1S, p. 29); spent bullets were located on the porch and 

in the house (8113I1S, p. 34 & 78); "bullet" holes were identified in several places around 

the residence and in certain furniture (8/13/1S, p. 36, 56, 83, 143, IS7. 8114/1S, p. 14, 

19); "tests" were being performed on the scene such as placing a metal rod through a 

plastic lawn chair and into a "bullet hole" in the wall (8114/1S, p. 38) and repeatedly 

identified as a "bullet hole" (8114/1S, p. 12); and, the blood soaked garments ofthe 

victim and the Defendant were located. Despite the excessive number ofpolice officers 

and the extensive amount of time involved and the depth of the investigation, very few 

items (other than firearms) were located and seized by the officers on that date. (8/18/15, 

p.29) 

Numerous law enforcement officers testified regarding the above referenced items 

beginning with Corporal White before the Grand Jury and then during the course of the 

trial. Unfortunately for the law enforcement witnesses, none of the "bullet holes" were

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