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

the admissibility of each individual declaration or remark"). As discussed, here, Catherine and 

Michelle testified about conversations they had with Elizabeth on April 22, 2007, the night of 

Michelle's prom, in which Elizabeth expressed about Petitioner's reaction to Michelle having 

borrowed (and Catherine having briefly driven) his car. (App. Vol. VII at 168-72 184-88.). 

While Catherine and Michelle are the testifying witnesses, the "declarant" of the testimony is 

Elizabeth (who, is not available to testify, for obvious reasons). While this testimony may 

appear, at first blush, to be hearsay, the statements at issue were not being introduced to attempt 

to establish the truth of the matter (i.e., that Petitioner was actually angry about Michelle and 

Catherine's use of his car), but rather to Elizabeth's state of mind (i.e., that she was worried 

about, and even fearful of Petitioner's response to the situation). Consequently, this testimony is 

admissible because it is not hearsay. Syl. pt. 1, Phillips, 194 W. Va. at. 572,46-1 S.E.2d at 78. 

Alternatively, and as the lower court recognized, Elizabeth's comments to Catherine and 

Michelle were made in "real time," as she was describing the on-going events which gave rise to 

her decision to seek a domestic violence protective order. Hearsay is admissible under a "present 

sense impression" when the declarant is "explaining an event or condition made while the 

declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter." W. Va. R. Evid. 

803(1). This testimony would also be admissible under W. Va. R. Evid. 803(3) in that it is 

indicative of the declarant's state of mind (Mrs. Spinks was concerned about her husband's 

anger). Here, the proffered testimony fits these exceptions and is alternatively admissible under 

these rules. 
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iii. 	 The introduction of testimony concerning April 22, 2007, does not offend the 
Confrontation Clause because it is non-testimonial in nature. 

It is axiomatic that testimony which is admissible from an evidentiary standpoint may be 

excluded or otherwise rendered inadmissible at trial due to the Confrontation Clause. See 

generally Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). Petitioner appears to suggest that the 

testimony offered about to events of April 22, 2007 raises confrontation issues. However, there is 

no basis for such a claim: As Crawford (and this Court's related jurisprudence) makes clear, the 

Confrontation Clause restricts the admission of only "testimonial statements." "Non-testimonial 

statements by an unavailable declarant . . . are not precluded from use by the Confrontation 

Clause." State v. Kaufman, 227 W. Va. 537, 550, 711 S.E.2d 607, 620 (2011) (quoting State v. 

Mechling, 219 W. Va. at 373,633 S.E.2d at 318). A "testimonial statement is, generally, a 

statement that is made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to 

believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial." Syl. pt. 8, State v. Kaufman, 

227 W. Va. 537, 540-41, 711 S.E.2d 607, 610-11 (2011) (quoting Mechling, 219 W.Va. at 386, 

633 S.E.2d at 313). 

Here, Catherine and Michelle's testimony regarding comments Elizabeth made to them 

about the April 22, 2007 domestic violence issues are "non-testimonial" in nature. It is 

undisputed that Catherine and Michelle are not law enforcement officers; but instead were 

Elizabeth's family members. There is no reason to believe that the conversations Elizabeth had 

with either Catherine or Michelle occurred in such a context that any observer could believe that 

the parties to the conversation though that what was said would later be used in a criminal trial. 
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Thus, the Confrontation Clause cannot provide Petitioner any relief in the instant appeal; the 

statements are non-testimonial in nature.8 

iv. 	 Evidence of specific acts which occurred during the time period of November 
2006 through March 2007 were properly admitted under West Virginia Rule of 
Evidence 404(b). 

The circuit court determined that testimony from Michelle about incidents of domestic 

violence involving Petitioner and Elizabeth in November 2006 and March 2007 were admissible, 

but that testimony regarding Petitioner and Mrs. Spink's relationship that reached back more 

than six months before her death would be inadmissible. August 7, 2015 Order (App. Vol. I at 

159, ~ 5-6). The court further found that testimony from Catherine and Michelle "during the six 

(6) months prior to [Elizabeth's] death shall be admissible in the trial of this matter; provided 

that Michelle makes no mention of criminal charges pending against [petitioner] at that time[.]" 

(ld. '7) (emphasis in original). 

Specifically, Michelle testified that, while she was staying with Petitioner and Elizabeth, 

in December 2006, she witnesses a physical altercation between the two. She also observed an 

incident in March 2007 wherein Petitioner shoved Elizabeth and testified to yelling which could 

be heard through a closed door. See (App. Vol. I at 148). This testimony is admissible because it 

tends show motive and intent under Rule 404(b). See e.g., McKinley, 234 W. Va. at 155, 764 

S.E.2d at 315. Moreover, the circuit court found (as it was required to do), by a preponderance of 

evidence, that the acts or conduct occurred and that Petitioner committed such acts. See 

8 It is notable that the circuit court did, in fact, exclude other pieces of evidence pertaining to the 
April 22, 2007 domestic violence events on the grounds that such testimony would violate the 
Sixth Amendment. This included statements made by Elizabeth to a police officer related to her 
pursuit of a domestic violence protective order because those statements were testimonial in 
nature (i.e., they were made to a law enforcement officer whose primary purpose was to 
investigate the alleged domestic violence complaint). August 7, 2015 Order (App. Vol. I at 140
141). 
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McGinnis, 193 W. Va. at 158-59, 455 S.E.2d at 527-28. Here, there can be little doubt that 

Michelle's testimony in this respect was credible: she was living with Petitioner and Elizabeth, 

when the event occurred, and there it cannot be questioned that Michelle was capable of being 

able to identify her own mother and her mother's husband. See (App. Vol. I at 149).9 

v. 	 Evidence regarding April 22, 2007, March, 2007, and November, 2006 is relevant 
and not unfairly prejudicial. 

Testimony pertaining to the April 22, 2007 event, as well as Michelle's testimony 

regarding the physical fights between Petitioner and Elizabeth in November 2006 and March 

2007, are both highly relevant and not unfairly prejudicial. Evidence is relevant if it has "any 

tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of an 

action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." W. Va. R. Evid. 

401. Here, the factual issue for trial was whether or not Petitioner shot and killed Elizabeth (or 

whether she was shot by some unidentified third party). Thus, whether Petitioner had a motive or 

intent to harm (kill) his wife was highly relevant. Clearly, evidence regarding fighting and 

physical abuse in the six months leading up to Elizabeth's death, in addition to testimony about 

physical altercations between the two is relevant to whether Petitioner had motive to and did in 

fact intend to kill Elizabeth. In State v. LaRock, this Court recognized that evidence of a prior 

relationship between a defendant and the victim was relevant and described "evidence of . . . 

prior relationship between the defendant and his [victim]" as "crucial evidence . . . proving 

premeditation." LaRock, 196 W. Va. at 312, n. 27, 470 S.E.2d at 361 n. 27. The takeaway, then, 

is that analogous relationships can be highly relevant as they provide an explanation as to why a 

defendant would engage in criminal conduct against a particular victim. 

9 There are no hearsay or Sixth Amendment concerns regarding this particular testimony because 
they were based upon conduct which Michelle observed firsthand and not upon statements made 
by Elizabeth or any other party. 
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Of course, relevant evidence can be rendered inadmissible after application of the 

balancing test contained in West Virginia Rule of Evidence 403. If the relevance of a piece of 

evidence is "substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, 

or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless 

presentation of cumulative evidence" a circuit court can properly deem that evidence 

inadmissible, despite its relevance. W. Va. R. Evid. 403. Here, the circuit court relied upon 

McGinnis when conducting the 403 balancing test. (App. Vol. I at 152-53). Succinctly, and as 

the lower court recognized, evidence of Petitioner's prior domestic violence against Elizabeth 

was highly relevant because it provided motive and was indicative of his intent to harm or kill 

her. Second, the evidence came from credible witnesses (including Michelle, who was an 

eyewitness to these incidents). Given the highly probative nature of this testimony, the circuit 

court correctly concluded that any unfair prejudice did not substantially outweigh that probative 

value. Petitioner has failed to offer any meaningful counterargument demonstrating the nature of 

the unfair prejudice, or provide examples demonstrating the purported flaw with the circuit 

court's conclusion. Given the "special deference" given to a circuit court's determination of 

admissibility, Petitioner has utterly failed to carry his burden of demonstrating that the 

incorrectly applied the 403 balancing test. 

b. Evidence of marital discord was properly admitted. 

As a threshold matter, the circuit court summarily rejected the introduction of testimony 

from either Catherine or Elizabeth related to events that happened before 2005, because it 

determined that any such events were "too remote in time to be admissible as intrinsic evidence 

or to be relevant in proving any material fact at issue in this case." (App. Vol. I at 154) (internal 

citations omitted). The court also found that Catherine's proffered testimony regarding 
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statements Elizabeth made to her (namely that Petitioner was very controlling, did not allow 

Elizabeth the freedom to come and go as she pleased, and would get angry with her if her if she 

was away from their house too long) was inadmissible because that testimony were based 

primarily upon Catherine's impressions and inferences, not upon anything she personally 

observed. (Id.). 

The Court permitted Michelle to testify about events related more closely in time to 

Elizabeth's murder. (Id. at 155). Specifically, during the summer of 2007 Michelle lived in a 

camper that sat only a short distance from the Spinks' residence. (Id.) Michelle testified that she 

was with Elizabeth when she went to the Courthouse to obtain divorce documents, and also 

testified to a "couple" fights she overheard involving Petitioner and Elizabeth while she 

(Michelle) was residing in the camper. (Id. at 155). This information, just like the April 22, 2007 

incident and the earlier incidents of domestic violence, qualified as intrinsic evidence because it 

would "seem[ ] doubtful that the case could be appropriately presented without such background 

information." (App. Vol. 1. at 155) (citing State v. Dennis, 216 W. Va. 331, 352, 607 S.E.2d 437, 

458 (20040)). Michelle's testimony relating to these close-in-time events helped the jury 

understand Elizabeth's death in the context of her relationship with Petitioner. As explained 

above, this Court has frequently held evidence of this sort to be admissible. See McKineiy, 

Dennis, supra. 

Like the above-discussed domestic violence testimony, statements made by Elizabeth to 

Michelle in this context must not be violative of the Confrontation Clause. Like the previously 

discussed testimony, Elizabeth's statements in this context were non-testimonial in nature; there 

is no reason to think that Elizabeth believed the conversations she had with (or were overheard 

by) her daughter would subsequently be admitted at a criminal trial. Moreover, the statements are 

27 




not inadmissible hearsay because they wer~ not being used to show the truth of the matter 

asserted, but rather were being admitted to show Petitioner's motive and intent. See Phillips, 194 

w. Va. at. 572,461 S.E.2d at 78; see also (App. Vol. I at 156). Alternatively, such statements 

would be admissible as demonstrating Elizabeth's then-existing state of mind under Rule 803(3). 

That is, insofar as Elizabeth told Michelle that she wanted to divorce Petitioner, that statement 

went to Elizabeth's state of mind (being indicative of the fact that she and Petitioner were not 

getting along). 10 

c. 	 Evidence of a death threat Ms. Cowger overheard Petitioner make to Mrs. 
Spinks is plainly admissible. 

At trial, Michelle was permitted to testify to "threats she heard [Petitioner] make against 

the life of Elizabeth Spinks[.]" (App. Vol. I at 158). Critically, Michelle was not permitted to 

testify about threats she did not personally hear [Petitioner] make[.]" (Jd.). Specifically, Michelle 

testified that on April 22, 2007, she heard Petitioner threatened to kill Elizabeth while the two 

were on the phone. (Jd.). Evidence of threats, or otherwise threatening statements, made by a 

murder defendant against the life the individual they are accused of killing is competent and 

admissible evidence. State v. Berry, 176 W. Va. 291, 293,342 S.E.2d 259, 261 (261) (1986). 

Moreover, this death threat goes to the very heart of the issue in this matter, which was whether 

Petitioner killed Elizabeth. Clearly, evidence that Petitioner affirmative said that he was going to 

kill her is highly relevant, and (for the reasons discussed above) not otherwise rendered 

inadmissible. Accordingly, the circuit court properly admitted that testimony - along with all the 

other evidence and testimony challenged in Petitioner's brief - at trial. 

10 When considering this testimony, the circuit court carefully drew its lines. It prohibited 
Michelle from testifying that Elizabeth wanted to file for divorce when Petitioner "was put in jail 
for some charges he was facing," because the reference to unrelated criminal charges introduced 
unfair prejudicial which Rule 403. (See discussion, supra). 
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3. 	 The circuit court's decision to present only a first-degree murder instruction was 
not an abuse of discretion. 

Although he did not object to the jury instructions used at trial, Petitioner now asks this 

Court to find that the circuit court's decision to offer only a first-degree murder instruction was 

plain error. l1 Pet. Br. at 27-28. His claim finds no succor in the relevant precedent of this Court. 

As threshold matter, this Court has repeatedly stated that challenges to jury instructions 

are not usually cognizable as plain error. See Syl. pt. 3, State v. Gangwer, 169 W. Va. 177, 177, 

286 S.E.2d 389, 391 (1982) ("The general rule is that a party may not assign as error the giving 

of an instruction unless he objects, stating distinctly the matters to which he objects and the 

grounds of his objection."); State v. Milam, 159 W. Va. 691, 702, 226 S.E.2d 433, 441 (1976) 

("there was no objection by the defendant to th[e] language [of the instruction] at the time of trial 

and we will not consider an objection to instructions in the first instance before this Court."); see 

also W. Va. R. Crim. P. 30 (providing that "[n]o party may assign as error the giving or the 

refusal to give an instruction or the giving of any portion of the charge unless that party objects 

thereto before the arguments to the jury are begun" but noting that "[an] appellate court may, in 

the interest of justice, notice plain error in the giving or refusal to give an instruction."). Given 

this authority, and in light of the fact that the instruction given by the circuit court for first-degree 

murder gave an accurate statement of the law, (see App. Vol. VIn at 233-253), Respondent 

invites this Court to reject Petitioner's invocation of the Plain Error doctrine. See Gangwer, 169 

W. Va. at 182,286 S.E.2d at 393 (stating that "the 'plain error' rule, which gives discretion to 

the trial court or this Court to notice plain error in the giving of an instruction, is inapplicable 

where ... the instruction given ... is substantially correct.") (internal citation omitted); cfState 

11 For a detailed discussion of the Plain Error doctrine and the relevant standard that must be 
satisfied, see State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3, 18-19, 459 S.E.2d 114, 129-130 (1995). See also 
State v. Collins, 186 W. Va. 1, 10, 409 S.E.2d 181, 190 (1990); State v. England, 180 W. Va. 
342,348,376 S.E.2d 548, 554 (1988). 
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v. Demastus, 165 W. Va. 572, 587, 270 S.E.2d 649, 659 (1980) (explaining that this Court 

"notice plain error if it is necessary to prevent manifest injustice or clear prejudice to a party" but 

holding that a legally accurate instruction is not prejudicial (even ifit is excessive) so long as the 

jury is aware of the necessary elements to convict the defendant for the crime charged).

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